STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Defendant/appellant Christopher Fluker respectfully suggests that oral argument is 

unnecessary in this case. The Court can adequately decide this matter on the Briefs and the 

argument put forth by Mr. Fluker arguing for the reversal of his convictions in the Circuit 

Court of Grenada County, Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

The issues before the Court are noted below. 

1. Whether the State of Mississippi failed to establish that probable cause existed 

for the stop of Mr. Fluker's vehicle, pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617; 

2. Whether the State of Mississippi met the elements of proof for conviction 

under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617; 

3. Whether Christopher Fluker received effective assistance of counsel during 

the trial of this cause and whether ineffective assistance of counsel requires a reversal of the 

judgment of the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi; 

4. Whether the Circuit Court err in refusing to allow Mr. Fluker to modify the 

record of his trial pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 1O(e). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Nature of the Case/Factual Background. 

These consolidated cases are criminal appeals from the Circuit Court of Grenada County, 

Mississippi. 

On or about May 25, 2008, Defendant Christopher Fluker was stopped by Mississippi 

Highway Patrol Officer Ben Williams in Grenada County on Mississippi Highway 8. (Trial 

Trans. at 4-8) Trooper Ben Williams testified at the trial in Grenada County Circuit Court that 

he pulled over Mr. Fluker for violation of Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-6l7, which 

prohibits driving too close to the center line. (R. at 12-11, 13; Trial Trans. at 4-6). At no time 

during his trial testimony did he specifically state that he saw Mr. Fluker's vehicle travel near the 

center of Mississippi Highway 8 for two hundred (200) yards (Trial Trans. at 4-6). On direct 

examination, he noticed Mr. Fluker's vehicle due to the tint on all four windows and the fact that 

he was traveling close to the center line, but gave no specific distance. (Trial Trans. at 4-5). He 

also alleged Mr. Fluker was speeding and produced no other evidence other than his testimony of 

that fact or that the radar equipment in his cruiser was working properly on the day of the stop. 

(Trial Trans. at 4-5). 

After stopping Mr. Fluker and writing the ticket for traveling close to the center line, 

Trooper Williams observed a strong smell of alcoholic beverages emanating from the vehicle 

and asked Mr. Fluker if he had been drinking. (Trial Trans. at 6). According to Trooper 

Williams, Mr. Fluker then allegedly stated that he had two, possibly three, drinks. (Trial Trans. 

at 6). Trooper Williams also stated that Mr. Fluker appeared nervous. (Trial Trans. at 6) 

He further asked Mr. Fluker if he would take a portable intoxilizer. Mr. Fluker did and 

which, according to Trooper Williams, gave a strong indication that Mr. Fluker had been 

drinking. (Trial Trans. at 6-7). After having Mr. Fluker perform a field sobriety test (saying his 
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ABC's) he placed Mr. Fluker under arrest and transported him to the Mississippi Highway Patrol 

Trooper station for a second intoxilizer which was allegedly refused by Mr. Fluker. (R., Cause 

No. 00238 at 11-12; Trial Trans. at 6-7) 

Based on Trooper Williams' testimony alone, the Circuit Court of Grenada County, 

Mississippi found Mr. Fluker guilty of violating Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-6l7 as well 

as DUI First Offense and fined him $40.50 and $1,000.00, respectively, plus court costs. (R., 

Cause No. 00238, at 13-15; R., Cause No. 00237, at 15-16; Trial Trans. at 10-11). Mr. Fluker 

was further ordered to attend the MASEP School (Trial Trans. at 10-11). 

At the Circuit Court trial, Mr. Fluker's counsel of record, Jim Arnold, Esq., presented no 

witnesses, offered no documentary evidence, and only cross-examined Officer Williams 

regarding the existence and his possession of a copy of Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617. 

(Trial Trans. at 8-11). In addition, Mr. Arnold never notified Mr. Fluker of the January 7,2009 

trial date in Grenada County, and Mr. Fluker was only informed of the trial date, and his 

subsequent conviction, after being informed of such by Mr. Arnold after his conviction. (Trial 

Trans. at 11; Supp. Record at 1; Exhibit 1 to Appellant's Motion for Enlargement of Time). 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

1. The State has not established probable cause to stop Mr. Fluker's vehicle. 

Under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617: 

It shall be unlawful for the driver of any truck or other vehicle to drive 
in or near the center of any highway for a distance of more than two 
hundred (200) yards, or at any time to refuse to return to the right in 
order that any driver desiring to pass that truck or other vehicle may 
drive at a higher rate of speed. 

Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617 (1972 and 2008 Supp.) 

At Mr. Fluker's trial in Grenada County, the arresting officer, Ben Williams of the 

Mississippi Highway Patrol, testified that he observed Mr. Fluker's vehicle traveling eastbound 

on Mississippi Highway 8 and that it was behind two other vehicles and had blacked out tint on 

all windows. (Trial Trans. at 4-5). While Troooper Williams stated in his testimony that the 

vehicle was traveling closer to the center line and that Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-117 

prohibited driving close to the center line for more than 200 yards, he did not state during his 

trial testimony that he actually observed Mr. Fluker's vehicle travel close to the center line for 

200 or more yards. (Trial Trans. at 4-5). He only stated that he observed the vehicle in his 

rearview mirror as it went past and gave its approximate speed. (Trial Trans. at 4-6). He did 

not testify that Mr. Fluker's vehicle traveled close to the center of the highway to prevent 

another vehicle from overtaking him. (Trial Trans. at 4-6). Furthermore, there was absolutely 

no testimony as to whether Mississippi Highway 8, in this location, was a two- , three-, or four-

lane highway in order to determine whether driving "in or near the center of the highway" 

would have been considered to be a violation of Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617. (Trial 

Trans. at 4-6) 

This is a case of a classic pretext stop. Officer Williams became suspicious of Mr. Fluker 

due to the dark tint in his windows and utilized Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617 in order 
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to establish probable cause to stop his vehicle. As a result, it has failed to prove that probable 

cause existed to stop Mr. Fluker's vehicle, his convictions under Mississippi Code Annotated 

§63-3-617 and §63-11-30 should be reversed. 

2. Whether the State of Mississippi met the elements of proof for conviction under 
Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617. 

For the same reasons cited in the above referenced count, Appellant Christopher Fluker 

asserts that the State of Mississippi did not meet its burden of proof in convicting him of refusal 

to clear the center of the highway under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-6l7. At no time at 

the trial court did Trooper Williams testify as to actually seeing Mr. Fluker's vehicle travel in, 

on, or near the center of Mississippi Highway 8 for a distance of 200 yards or more. (Trial 

Trans. at 4-6). Furthermore, there is no testimony or other evidence that Mr. Fluker was in, on, 

or refused to clear the center of the road for a distance of more than 200 yards. (Trial Trans. at 

4-6). There is no evidence that Mr. Fluker was attempting to pass another vehicle, crossed the 

center line in order to pass another vehicle, crossed the center line into the opposite lane of 

travel, or was occupying the center to prevent a vehicle from overtaking him. (Trial Trans. 4-6). 

There is likewise no evidence that Mr. Fluker could avoid traveling near the center of Mississippi 

Highway 8 in this location as there has been no testimony as to whether Highway 8 in this 

location is a two-, three-, or four-lane highway. (Trial Trans. 4-6). As such, the State has failed 

to meet its burden beyond a reasonable doubt and his conviction should be reversed. 

3. Whether Christopher Fluker received effective assistance of counsel during the 
trial of this cause and whether ineffective assistance of counsel requires a 
reversal of the judgment of the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi. 

Mr. Fluker's appellant counsel and trial counsel are two different attorneys. In order to 

prevail on the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr. Fluker must meet the two-prong test 

from Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, (1984). 
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Under Strickland, Mr. Fluker must show that (1) his trial counsel's performance was deficient, 

and (2) that the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Walker v. State, 703 So. 2d 266, 268 (Miss. 

1997). As there is a difference in trial and appellate counsel, Mr. Fluker must raise this argument 

on direct appeal. Moore v. State, 676 So. 2d 244, 245-46 (Miss. 1996); Sheffield v. State, 881 So. 

2d 249, 252-254 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). In summary, Mr. Fluker alleges that the performance of 

the trial counsel was deficient in failing to properly cross examine Trooper Williams as to the 

probable cause for his stop and the elements of proof under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-

617; failure to properly cross examine Trooper Williams as to the elements of proof of driving 

under the influence under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-11-30(1); failure to call witnesses to 

testifY on Mr. Fluker's behalf; failure to notifY Mr. Fluker of the trial date of January 7,2009, or 

engage in any discovery motions prior to trial. (R. at 1-24, Cause No. 00238; R. at 1-24, Cause 

No. 00237; Trial Trans. at 8-11) 

For the foregoing reasons, the ineffectiveness of Mr. Fluker's trial counsel mandates that 

he has been prejudiced thereby under the Strickland test. Accordingly, Mr. Fluker's convictions 

under Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617 and §63-11-30 should be reversed and this matter 

remanded back to the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi for a new trial. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in refusing Mr. Fluker's proposed modification of the 
record under Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure lO(e). 

Mr. Fluker further asserts that the Circuit Court of Grenada County erred in refusing Mr. 

Fluker's requested modification of the record pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate 

Procedure lO(e). (Supp. R. at 1). Mr. Fluker sought to modifY the Circuit Clerk's records of his 

conviction in Grenada County to include an Affidavit that he had never received notice of his 

trial date from his trial counsel, Jim Arnold, Esq. Appellant's Motion for Enlargement of Time 

at Exhibit "1." Mr. Fluker sought to use this Affidavit as further evidence for his ineffective 
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assistance of counsel claim in this cause. Because the only fashion in which this Affidavit may 

come before the Appellate Court is through the use of the procedure found in Mississippi Rule of 

Appellate Procedure 1O( e), Mr. Fluker asserts that the trial court erred in refusing the requested 

modification so that a more thorough picture of what occurred at the Circuit Court may be gained 

by this Court as well as giving it further evidence to evaluate his ineffectiveness of counsel 

claim. See Carlisle v. Carlisle, 2009 Miss. App. LEXIS 234 at *3 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. 
WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY 

ERRED IN FINDING THAT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED 
FOR THE STOP OF MR. FLUKER'S VEHICLE. 

Mississippi follows the general rule that "the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable 

where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." Whren v. 

United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S. Ct. 1769, 135 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1996); Saucier v. City of 

Poplarville, 858 So. 2d 933,934 (Miss. ct. App. 2003). 

In Mississippi, probable cause is determined by the totality of the circumstances. 

Harrison v. State, 800 So. 2d 1134, 1138 (Miss. 2001); Loveless v. City of Booneville, 972 So. 2d 

723, 730 (Miss. ct. App. 2007). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "probable cause 

arises when the facts and circumstances with an officer's knowledge, or which he has reasonably 

trustworthy information, are sufficient in themselves to justify a man of average caution in the 

belief that a crime has been committed and that a particular individual committed it." Harrison, 

800 So. 2d at 1138 (quoting Conway v. State, 397 So. 2d 1095, 1098 (Miss. 1980). In 

establishing probable cause to stop Mr. Fluker's vehicle, Mississippi Highway Patrol Officer Ben 

Williams utilized Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-617 which provides: 

It shall be unlawful for the driver of any truck or other vehicle to drive 
in or near the center of any highway for a distance of more than two 
hundred yards, or at any time to refuse to turn to the right in order that 
any driver desiring to pass said truck or other vehicle, may drive at a 
higher legal rate of speed. 

Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617 (1972 & 2008 Supp.). 

At trial, Officer Williams testified as follows regarding his observations of Mr. Fluker's 

vehicle: 

[By Mr. Gore 1 
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Q. For the record, you're an officer for the highway patrol? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State of Mississippi? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. On or about May the 25'\ 2008, while in Grenada County, 
Mississippi, what occasion did you have to come into contact with 
Christopher D. Fluker? 

A. While on patrol in Grenada County on Mississippi Highway 8 
West, I observed his vehicle traveling west - eastbound on Mississippi 
8, near Bute Springs area. The vehicle was behind two other cars and 
had tint blacked out all the windows, and the vehicle was traveling 
closer to the center line. And in Mississippi law prohibits a vehicle­
and 63-3-617, I believe it is - to drive in or near the center line for 
more than 200 yards. 

Q. 63-

A. 3-617. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And I observed this vehicle in my rearview mirror when I went 
past. The vehicle was traveling about 62 miles an hour. Turned 
around and the vehicle -

Q. What's the speed limit in - that area? 

A. Fifty-five. 

Q. Okay. So he was traveling 62? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Okay. 

By Mr. Arnold: Your Honor, may it please the Court, based on 
this testimony, we would object in that the officer has stated this, but 
we don't have any proof of that unless-

By the Court: Well, he's under oath and we've got his sworn 
testimony. And I think it's - sworn testimony under the penalty of 
perjury is sufficient proof. 
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ByMr. Gore: 
Q. Okay. 

A. Turned around on the vehicle and got the vehicle stopped right 
there at the four lane, just before the auto. And I told him why I 
stopped him. Black tint and driving near the center of the center line. 
And I didn't charge him with speeding. 

Trial Trans. at 4-6. 

First, Appellant would note that there is absolutely no case law in Mississippi 

determining or illustrating how Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617 is to be interpreted by law 

enforcement officers or the public at large. See Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-617. A thorough 

examination of Mississippi Supreme Court and Mississippi Court of Appeals decisions for the 

statute results in absolutely no cases interpreting its text or its application. See Miss. Code Ann. 

§63-3-617. As a result, the statute's interpretation becomes a subjective matter for the law 

enforcement officer. The traffic stop must have an objective basis to be valid. Adams v. City of 

Booneville, 910 So. 2d 720, 724 (Miss. ct. App. 2005). It must be based on an objective 

standard and ifit is clear what the officer observed was not a violation of Section 63-3-617, then 

there is no basis for the stop. Adams, 910 So. 2d at 724 (quoting U. S. v. Escalante, 239 F. 3d 

678,680-81 (5th Cir. 2001). 

In his trial testimony, Officer Williams stated that Mr. Fluker's vehicle was behind two 

other cars on Mississippi Highway 8 traveling eastbound near Bute Springs. (Trial Trans. at 4) 

He noted that the black tint on Mr. Fluker's window and that it was "traveling closer to the 

center line". (Trial Trans. at 4) He further stated that he observed the vehicle in his rearview 

mirror as it went past, but at no time stated that he watched Mr. Fluker's vehicle drive close to 

or straddle the center line for more than 200 yards, the length of two football fields. (Trial 

Trans. at 4-6) 
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In addition, there is no indication that even if Mr. Fluker was driving close to the center 

line at the time he was observed by Officer Williams, this conduct would have constituted a 

traffic violation necessitating probable cause. See Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617. There is no 

testimony or other evidence in the record as to whether Mississippi Highway 8 in this location is 

a two, three, or four lane road. CR. at 4-6; 9-10). It was not requested that the Court take 

judicial notice of the configuration or width of Highway 8 in this location and no evidence of 

how traveling close to the center line would constitute a violation of §63-3-617 sufficient to 

justify probable cause for the traffic stop. CR. at 4-6) There is also no indication that Mr. Fluker 

was attempting to cross the center line to pass or overtake the two vehicles allegedly traveling in 

front of him. (R. at 4-6). There is also no indication that Mr. Fluker was driving near or in the 

center of the road to prevent a vehicle from overtaking him, as is contemplated by the very title 

and language of the statute itself. See Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617. 

In short, there is not probable cause sufficient for the traffic stop as Officer Williams did 

not state in his trial testimony that he actually observed Mr. Fluker drive in or near the center of 

the road for the length of two football fields. CR. at 4-6; 9-10) It is simply presumed by the 

Circuit Court that he did actually observe him for 200 yards without Mr. Williams testimony 

that he in fact did so. CR. at 4-6; 9-10). In addition, assuming that he did travel for a distance of 

two football fields in the center or near the center ofthe road, there is no indication ofthe size 

or width of Mississippi Highway 8 in this location and how traveling close to the center line 

would constitute a traffic violation sufficient for probable cause. (R. at 4-6; 9-10). In fact, if 

Mississippi Highway 8 in this location is a two-lane highway, as many Mississippi highways 

are, it is nearly impossible not to travel near the center of the highway. See Miss. Code Ann. 

§63-3-617. 
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In sum, there must have been an objective basis for the stop of Mr. Fluker's vehicle. U 

s. v. Escalante, 239 F. 3d 678,680-81 (5th Cir. 2001); Adams, 910 So. 2d at 724-25. A traffic 

stop must have an objective basis; it cannot be based on a pure subjective conclusion or a hunch 

of the officer. Adams, 910 So. 2d at 724. As the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth 

Circuit stated in Escalante, if the conduct that the police officer observed did not constitute a 

violation of the cited traffic law, there is no objective basis for the stop and the stop is improper. 

Escalante, 239 F. 3d at 680-81; Adams, 910 So. 2d at 724-25. This was purely a pretextual 

stop, with Trooper Williams being more concerned about the tint of Mr. Fluker's windows than 

about any alleged violation of traveling too close to the center line. (R. at 4-6). As there is no 

objective basis for the stop and the conduct observed by Officer Williams did not constitute a 

violation of the cited traffic law, the stop is improper. 

As there was no probable cause to stop Mr. Fluker's vehicle, any and all evidence 

procured from the stop of his vehicle on Mississippi Highway 8 should be excluded and, as a 

result, his conviction for violation of Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-617 and for DUI First Offense, 

pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §63-11-30(l) should be reversed. 

II. 

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI HAS NOT MET THE 
ELEMENTS FOR PROOF OF CONVICTION UNDER 

MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED §63-3-617. 

As this particular assignment of error will restate much of the foregoing argument, it will 

be necessarily brief. At the trial in Grenada County, a great deal of confusion existed as to the 

actual traffic violation alleged by Officer Williams and the very existence of Miss. Code Ann. 

§63-3-617 which has turned out to be a fairly obscure statute in Mississippi. At trial, the record 

reveals the following: 

By Mr. Arnold: 
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Q. Mr. Williams-Officer Williams, do you recall when we had 
this case in justice court? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And I asked you about whether or not you had any code section 
or any law to produce to substantiate this charge and you said, no, at 
that time; is that correct? 

A. I don't, actually, remember you asking me like that. But I 
think you did ask me what code it was and I couldn't remember the 
code at the time. But there is such a law. I think you told me that there 
was no law that would substantiate the charge. 

Q. What code did you cite to the Court a minute ago? 

A. I think its 63-3-617 

By the Court: 670 or 6177 

By the Witness: 617. 

By the Court: Okay. 

By Mr. Arnold:

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