APPELLEE 

1. OFFICER WILLIAMS HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP FLUKER'S 
VEHICLE. 

II. THE STATE PROVIDED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT 
FLUKER'S CONVICTION FOR VIOLATING MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED § 
63-3-617. 

III. TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE. 

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING FLUKER'S REQUESTED 
MODIFICATION OF THE RECORD.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal against a judgement from the Circuit COUli of Grenada County, Mississippi, 

in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his misdemeanor crimes of driving on or 

near the center line and DUl, first offense. 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

On May 25, 2008, Officer Ben Williams of the Mississippi Highway Patrol stopped 

Christopher Fluker on Mississippi Highway 8 in Greneda County. (T.5-6). Through the course of 

the stop, it became evident to Williams that Fluker was under the influence of alcohol. (T. 8). After 

admitting to Williams that he was drinking alcohol just prior to the stop, Fluker failed to pass field 

sobriety tests administered by Williams and was arrested for suspicion of driving under the influence. 

(T. 7). 

Fluker's traffic stop and subsequent arrest were based on three specific traffic violations 

Officer Williams observed as he was traveling toward Fluker on the opposite side of the highway. 

(T. 4-5). First, Williams testified that the tint on the windows was "blacked out," inferring that it 

was not within the legal limits for vehicle registered in Mississippi. (T. 4). Second, Williams noted 

that Fluker was driving on or near the center line for more than 200 yards. (T.4-5). He referenced 

this by noting that Fluker was third in a line of cars and that he was closer to the center of the 

highway than the other two cars. (T. 4-5). Additionally he continued to observe Fluker's vehicle 

in his rearview mirror as he passed and determined from his knowledge and experience that Fluker 

had traveled that course for more than the 200 yards. (T. 5). Third, Williams testified that Fluker 

was traveling sixty-two miles per hour in an area with a fifty-five mile per hour speed limit. (T. 5). 

Once Williams turned around and pulled Fluker over he noticed that the vehicle was registered in 

Tennessee and that the Mississippi regulations for window tint would not apply. (T. 6). In fact, 

Fluker was only charged with driving near the center of the road and suspicion of driving under the 

influence. (T. 6). 

Once under arrest, Fluker was transported by Williams to the station and offered an 

Intoxilyzer test, which he refused. (T. 7). After spending approximately 30 minutes with Fluker, 
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Williams testified that based on his knowledge, training, and twenty-one years oflaw enforcement 

experience, he developed the opinion that Fluker was intoxicated. (T. 8). Further, Williams pointed 

to Fluker's driving behavior, the strong odor of alcoholic beverages emanating from both his car and 

his person, Fluker's staggering walk, low tone, red eyes, dilated pupils, and inability to recite the 

alphabet as further evidence that he was impaired. Jd. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Officer Williams' stop of Fluker's vehicle rested on the reasonable suspicion that multiple 

traffic laws were violated. Fluker was observed driving on or near the center line for more than 200 

yards, the tint on his windows was outside of the range prescribed by Mississippi statute for a vehicle 

registered in this state, and Fluker was driving sixty-two miles per hour in an area with a posted 

speed limit of fifty-five. Each of these violations was testified to by Williams in court. 

The State of Mississippi met its burden of proof of the elements under Miss. Code Ann. § 

63-3-617. Officer Williams testified in court as to his knowledge of the statute and described his 

observation of Fluker violating the statute. Specifically, Williams indicated that Fluker was closer 

to the center line than either of the two cars in front of him and that he observed Fluker driving near 

the center line long enough to cite him for the violation. 

Fluker fails to meet his burden of proving that any alleged deficiency was prejudicial to his 

defense resulting in an unreliable result at the conclusion of the trial. Counsel's decisions to call or 

not call certain witnesses and ask certain questions fell within the wide range of reasonable 

professional assistance allowed under the standards of Strickland v. Washington. 

The Circuit Court of Grenada County did not elT in refusing Fluker's motion to modifY the 

record. Fluker's proposed modification and affidavit failed to add or COlTect anything in the record 

that was omitted or improperly recorded during the trial proceedings. Therefore it falls outside of 
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Rule 10's flexible, but narrow application and was rightfully denied by the Circuit Court. 

ARGUMENT 

I. REASONABLE SUSPICION EXISTED TO STOP FLUKER'S VEHICLE 

Fluker's contention that the trial court erred in finding probable cause existed for the stop of 

his vehicle has two fatal flaws. First, the correct standard applied to the constitutionality of 

investigatory traffic stops is the less stringent standard of reasonable suspicion on the part of the 

detaining officers. Floydv. City o/Crystal Springs, 749 So. 2d II 0, 114 (~16)(Miss. 1999). Second, 

the record shows that based on the facts known to Officer Williams at the time of the initial 

observation and traffic stop, Fluker was in violation of multiple traffic laws. These violations acted 

as an objective basis for Williams' reasonable suspicion and the subsequent traffic stop. 

The Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Art. 3 § 23 of the Mississippi State 

Constitution protect, in almost identical language, one's right to be secure from unreasonable search 

and seizure. Floyd, 749 So. 2d atl14 (~14). While an officer must generally have probable cause 

to meet this constitutional requirement for an arrest or warrantless search, the ·standard is less 

stringent in the context of an investigatory traffic stop. Id at ~16. "The Mississippi Supreme Court 

has recognized that under reasonable circumstances an officer may stop a suspect to resolve an 

ambiguous situation ... on less information than is constitutionally required for probable cause to 

arrest." Loveless v. City o/Booneville, 972 So. 2s 723, n. 10 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Floyd, 

749 So. 2d at 114 (~16»). This lesser standard requires nothing more than a "reasonable suspicion, 

grounded in specific and articulable facts"on the pmt of the officer. Id. 

Additionally, the Floyd court set guidelines for detetmining the existence of reasonable 

suspicion. Floyd, 749 So. 2d at 114 (~17). "[T]he court must consider whether, taking into account 

the totality of the circumstances, the detaining officers had a particularized and objective basis for 
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suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity." Id. Thus, the definition outlined in 

Floyd of reasonable suspicion objectively bases the constitutionality of an investigatory traffic stop 

on the facts known to the officer at the time of the stop. Adams v. City of Booneville, 910 So. 2d 

720, 724 (~16) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Us. v. Escalante, 239 F.3d 678, 680-81 (5th Cir. 

2001)). 

Officer Williams' stop of Fluker and his subsequent arrest occurred after Williams observed 

Fluker violating three separate traffic laws. First, as Williams was traveling toward Fluker, he noted 

the "blacked out" window tint, a possible violation of Miss. Code. Ann. § 63-7-59(2). It was only 

after turning around and pulling Fluker over that he noted the car was registered in Tennessee; thus 

not subject to the statute. (T. 5). Second, Williams observed and testified that Fluker was driving 

on or near the center line for a distance more than 200 yards. (T. 5). Third, Fluker was driving at 

a rate of speed which exceeded the posted speed limit. (T. 5). 

On their own, any of these observations by Williams at the time ofthe stop would constitute 

the "particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal 

activity" needed to support a finding that Williams acted with reasonable suspicion. Floyd, 749 So. 

2d at 114 (~17). All three ofthe violations were testified to by Williams under oath. (T. 4-8). Fluker 

was cited for two of the three violations at the time of his stop, during which time Williams first 

noticed the strong smell of alcohol. (T. 5). Fluker's conduct in driving near the centerline for more 

than 200 yards and speeding constituted conduct that violated cited traffic law and provided an 

objective basis for the stop. Adams, 910 So. 2d at 724 (~16). Coupled with the other two violations, 

it is clear that, at the time of the traffic stop, Officer Williams' decision to stop Fluker followed a 

reasonable suspicion grounded in Fluker's disregard and violation of multiple traffic laws. 
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II. THE STATE PROVIDED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO 
SUPPORT FLUKER'S CONVICTION FOR VIOLATING MISSISSIPPI 
CODE ANNOTATED § 63-3-617. 

After a careful reading of both the statute and the trial record it is clear that the State has met 

its burden of prooffor the elements of Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-3-617, the pertinent part 

of which reads: "It shall be unlawful for the driver of any truck or other vehicle to drive in or near 

the center of any highway for a distance of more than two hundred yards ... " Miss. Code Aun. § 63-

3-617. During trial, the evidence was undisputed. Officer Williams testified that he observed Fluker 

breaking the law and was cross-examined only about the section number of the statute and the 

physical presence of a copy of the statute in the courtroom. (T. 5, 8-9). 

Fluker has asked the court to review the sufficiency of the evidence. Upon review, the Court 

must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 

(~16) (Miss. 2005). This includes giving the State "the benefit of all reasonable inferences that can 

be reasonably drawn from the evidence." Bell v. State, 910 So. 2d 640, 647 (~16) (Miss. Ct. App. 

2005) (Citing McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). Therefore, the test is not whether 

the reviewing court "believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable 

doubt," but whether "any rational trier offact could have found the essential elements of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt." Bush, 895 So. 2d at 843 (~16) (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 

307,315 (1979)). 

At several points in the record Williams made statements that illustrated his understanding 

ofthe law and explained how his observations led to the charge against Fluker for driving on or near 

the center of the road for more than 200 yards. Miss. Code Ann. 63-3-617 (1972). First, Williams 

referenced the statute and its elements, including the required distance of200 yards, on the record. 

(T. 4). Additionally, he cited Fluker for the violation immediately after pulling him over. (T. 5). 
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From his knowledge ofthe elements and the immediate citation, it can reasonably be inferred that 

he knew and understood the law when he observed, stopped, and charged Fluker. 

Second, during his initial observation of Fluker, Williams testified that he was traveling 

"closer to the center line" than the two cars directly in front of him. (T. 4). Williams' use of his 

knowledge and training helped him keep a trained eye on the proportional difference between those 

two cars driving within the limits prescribed by law and Fluker, who was obviously outside of that 

limit. Furthermore, Williams' statement specifically referred to the "center line" of Mississippi 

Highway 8. (T. 4). This statement unambiguously tracks the language of Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-

617, leaving no reason to question his position in the road or speculate that position relative to the 

number oflanes. 

Third, Williams testified that he not only observed Fluker driving in violation ofthe statute 

as he was traveling toward him, but that he continued to observe him in his rearview mirror after 

they passed one another. (T.4-5). At sixty-two miles per hour it is reasonable to infer that Williams 

could observe Fluker travel the 200 yards necessary under the statute in less than ten seconds. Based 

on Williams' description of the circumstances surrounding the stop, his training, and experience, 

and his testimony which demonstrates knowledge of the elements of the crime charged, it is 

reasonable to infer that Williams observed Fluker driving near the center line of Mississippi 

Highway 8 for a distance greater than 200 yards. 

After twenty-one years oflaw enforcement, Officer Williams possesses unique knowledge 

of Mississippi's traffic laws and experience on the road. (T. 7). The record shows that these 

attributes allowed Williams to focus on Fluker's vehicle in a line of cars, continue his observation 

until he was sure of a violation, and confidently issue a citation as is his responsibility as a 

Mississippi State Trooper. 
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III. TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE. 

Fluker's counsel provided effective assistance at Fluker's circuit court trial that subjected the 

State to a "meaningful adversarial setting." Amos v. State, 911 So. 2d 644,656 ('\[22) (Miss. Ct. App. 

2005). Although ultimately unsuccessful, Jim Arnold, Esq., met the Constitutional imperative of 

effective counsel while advocating for Fluker in both of the lower court trials in Grenada County. 

It is only in hindsight that alleged inadequacies are questioned and challenged as deficient or 

prejudicial. 

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is only viable where the appellant can prove 

deficiencies in counsel's performance that meet both prongs of the test set forth in Strickland v. 

Washington. Stringer v. State, 627 So. 2d 326, 329 (Miss. 1984). The first prong of this test 

mandates that Fluker prove that defense counsel rendered deficient performance. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Under this test, counsel's errors must be so egregious that 

counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed to the defendant by the Sixth Amendment of 

the United States Constitution. Id The second prong tests whether any alleged deficiency 

prejudiced the outcome of Fluker's case. Id This inquiry requires Fluker to show that the errors 

made by counsel deprived him of a fair trial with a reliable result. Id The analysis is conducted with 

deference to trial counsel's performance and takes the totality of the circumstances into 

consideration, in effect creating a strong presumption that counsel's performance falls within a wide 

range of reasonable professional assistance. Stevenson v. State, 798 So. 2d 599, 602 ('\[6) (Miss. Ct. 

App. 200 I). This presumption may only be rebutted by demonstrating a reasonable probability that, 

but for counsel's deficient performance, a different result would have occurred. Strickland, 466 U.S. 

at 694). Additionally, on direct appeal, the inquiry is restricted solely to the evidence within the four 

corners of the record. See Colenburg v. Slate, 735 So. 2d 1099,1102 ('\[6) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). 
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Furthermore, Fluker bears the burden of proving both prongs of the test are met. Lewis v. 

State, 997 So. 2d 1001, 1006 (~23) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Otherwise, "it cannot be said that a 

conviction ... resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable," 

and relief must be denied. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Fluker alleges only two instances within the 

record in support of his claim. While not admitting that these instances constituted deficient 

performance, the State contends that Fluker fails to show any prejudice where the overwhelming 

weight of the evidence proved his guilt. 

Officer Williams testified that Fluker drove near the center line for more than 200 yards, 

meeting both of the elements ofthe violation for which he was found guilty. (T.5). Additionally, 

Williams testified that Fluker admitted to consuming alcohol just thirty minutes prior to the stop, 

failed the field sobriety test that Williams administered, and that, after spending 30 minutes during 

and after the stop with Fluker, it was clear that he was intoxicated. (T. 8). Flnker asserts that 

counsel's lack of familiarity with the statute nnder which he was charged and the lack of an alleged 

proper cross examination resulted in a lower standard of proof for the State and created prejudice 

in the result. However, Fluker fails to specifically indicate how a revised cross examination would 

refute or otherwise impeach the testimony of Officer Williams in such a way that would yield a 

different result, or demonstrate the current one unreliable. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. "Failure to 

cross-examine, by itself, does not evince prejudice or mistake." Bryant v. State, 748 So. 2d, 780, 

791 (~52) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). On direct examination the existence of the statute and its elements 

were established by Williams' testimony". (T. 5). Williams testified to the violation of multiple 

traffic laws sufficient to establish reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop. (T. 4-5). Williams 

fmiher testified that Fluker was at the time intoxicated to the point of impairment. (T.8). Further

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